THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY

Court of General Sessions

Honorable R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUN 15 2018
SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-002104

THE STATE RESPONDENT

v.

SAMUEL LEE BROADWAY..... APPELLANT

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Christopher R. Geel
Attorney for Appellant
171 Church St., Suite 210
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 817-2166

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COURT ERR IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S HEARSAY OBJECTIONS?
- II. DID THE COURT ERR IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S PRETRIAL MOTION TO EXCLUDE VIDEO EVIDENCE UNDER JACKSON V. DENNO?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant Samuel Broadway was indicted on October 11, 2016 for one count of Leaving the Scene of an Accident Which Resulted in Death, in violation of S.C. Code §56-5-1210. (R. p. 5). Broadway proceeded to a jury trial in Berkeley County on November 28, 2016. Broadway was convicted on the sole count of the indictment on November 30, 2016. (R. pp. 3-4). The trial court sentenced Broadway to twelve years' incarceration. (R. p. 4). On December 7, 2016, Broadway filed a motion under Rule 29(a) requesting a new trial, and also moved the court to reconsider the sentence imposed. (R. pp. 7-10, 11-57).¹ The trial court heard both post-trial motions on September 28, 2017. (R. p. 491). Broadway's motion for new trial was denied on September 28, 2017. (R. p. 1). Broadway's motion to reconsider his sentence was orally granted by the trial court on September 28, 2017, and a written order memorializing the court's modification of Broadway's sentence was filed on October 17, 2017. (R. pp. 2, 498-499).² Broadway timely filed a notice of appeal on October 4, 2017, appealing from his sentence, conviction, and the denial of his motion for new trial. (R. p. 58).

¹ In Broadway's motion for new trial, he raised the same issues claimed as error in this appeal. (R. pp. 11-16). At the September 28, 2017 hearing on Broadway's motion for new trial, the trial court stood by its rulings regarding both issues, denying Broadway's motion for new trial. (R. pp. 498-499).

² The trial court amended Broadway's sentence as follows: Broadway is sentenced to "18 years, suspended upon the service of 8 years. The Defendant shall be given credit for all time served prior to this Order . . ." (R. p. 2).

FACTS

The present case arose out of a traffic accident that took place on the night of March 7, 2015, which resulted in the death of Jesse Feagin. Broadway was charged and convicted for violating S.C. Code §56-5-1210, Leaving the Scene of an Accident, based on the State's allegation that Broadway's vehicle struck Feagin's moped, and that Broadway subsequently left the scene of the accident without notifying the police that the accident took place. The State further alleged that Feagin's injuries from the collision resulted in his death.³

On the night of the incident, Feagin was repairing a moped for an acquaintance. (R. p. 169; Tr. 110). The moped's owner had contacted Feagin repeatedly asking for him to return the moped after completing the repairs. (R. p. 169; Tr. 110). Once Feagin completed the repairs at approximately 1:45 a.m. that night, Feagin decided to return the moped to its owner immediately, despite the late hour. (R. pp. 169-170; Tr. 110-111). Feagin then set out down a dark roadway in Berkeley County, riding on the moped. (R. p. 162; Tr. 103). Feagin was followed by his girlfriend Richley Campbell, who was driving in her car behind him. (R. p. 171; Tr. 112). As they approached a stop sign at the intersection of Domingo Road and 176, Feagin and Campbell both stopped. (R. p. 172; Tr. 113). Moments later, Feagin turned left onto 176. (R. p. 172; Tr. 113). Campbell, who was still behind Feagin in her vehicle, pulled up to the intersection and then looked both ways, and she noticed that Feagin was pulling out in front of an oncoming vehicle which was traveling down 176 in the same direction as Feagin was turning. (R. p. 172; Tr. 113). Campbell believed that the vehicle was going to rear-end Feagin's moped, so she quickly pulled her car out into the intersection and pulled up behind Feagin's moped with the expectation that the oncoming vehicle would instead strike the rear end of her car. (R. pp. 173, 183-184; Tr. 114, 124-125). The oncoming car, driven by Broadway, swerved off the road to avoid hitting Campbell's car, fishtailing into the grass on the right-hand side of the road, skidding around

³ The M.U.S.C. trauma doctor who treated Feagin testified that Feagin passed away as a result of traumatic brain injury suffered during the collision. (R. pp. 329-331; Tr. 270-72).

Campbell's car. (R. p. 173; Tr. 114). As Broadway struggled to regain control of his car, he re-entered the roadway in front of Campbell's car, striking Feagin's moped. (R. p. 174; Tr. 115).⁴ Campbell testified that after the collision took place, Broadway's car continued down the roadway, turning right at an intersection further down the road. (R. p. 174-175; Tr. 115-116). Campbell stopped her car and called 911. (R. pp. 176-177; Tr. 117-118). She remained on the scene of the collision until police and paramedics arrived. (R. pp. 178-179; Tr. 119-120). The first responders who arrived at the scene of the collision discovered Feagin at the side of the road, unconscious. (R. pp. 321-323; Tr. 262-264). Feagin was airlifted from the scene of the collision to M.U.S.C., where he was later pronounced dead. (R. pp. 325-326, 329-331; Tr. 266-267, 270-272).

After the departing from the scene of the collision, Broadway drove to BFE Bar, which is approximately two miles away. (R. pp. 200, 209; Tr. 141, 150). A bystander who was standing in the parking lot of BFE Bar when Broadway arrived testified for the State at trial. (R. pp. 195-215; Tr. 136-156). He stated that he observed Broadway drive up to the parking lot of the bar, and that he recognized Broadway; he stated that Broadway had been at the BFE Bar earlier that evening. (R. p. 200; Tr. 141). The bystander observed that Broadway appeared to be very upset. (R. p. 206; Tr. 147). Broadway said that he had just hit someone on 176, and that he needed to find his phone. (R. pp. 200, 205; Tr. 141, 146). Broadway then knocked on the door to the bar, telling bystanders that he had forgotten his phone inside. (R. p. 200; Tr. 141). However, by that time the bar had already closed for the night, and Broadway could not get inside. (R. p. 198; Tr. 139). Broadway asked several bystanders whether he could use their phones. (R. pp. 200-201;

⁴ The State's witness from the Goose Creek Police Department's Traffic Unit, who reconstructed the accident scene, corroborated this account of the collision during his testimony. "The point of impact was the vehicle traveling southbound . . . The moped was struck by a vehicle traveling southbound on 176 and pushed southbound towards 17A." (R. pp. 259-260; Tr. 200-201). The witness further acknowledged that his photographs included skid marks in the grass where Broadway's vehicle left the roadway and then re-entered the roadway. (R. p. 299; Tr. 240). Lastly, the witness acknowledged that Richley Campbell had admitted to pulling out in front of Broadway's car in the moments before the collision took place. (R. p. 299; Tr. 240).

Tr. 141-142). The eyewitness who testified at trial stated that he declined Broadway's request to use his phone. (R. pp. 201, 211; Tr. 142, 152). The eyewitness testified that minutes later, Broadway appeared to find his phone on the floorboard of his car. (R. p. 206; Tr. 147). Broadway then left the area and proceeded to the home of Harvey and Marlene Burton, Broadway's in-laws. (R. pp. 334, 388; Tr. 275, 329). Their home is approximately three to five miles from the site of the collision. (R. p. 94; Tr. 35).

Broadway's Statements to the Burtons

Both Harvey Burton and Marlene Burton were at home when Broadway arrived at their house that night. (R. pp. 332-342, 387-398; Tr. 273-283, 328-339). Harvey Burton testified that when Broadway arrived at the Burton house, Broadway informed the Burtons that he had been in an accident, and that he had hit a moped. (R. p. 335; Tr. 276). After discussing whether they should call the police, Harvey stated that Broadway went to sleep. (R. p. 336; Tr. 277). Harvey Burton testified that he decided to call the police of his own accord. (R. p. 336; Tr. 277).

Marlene Burton attempted to contradict Harvey Burton's account of their interactions with Broadway. During her testimony, she attempted to state that Broadway asked the Burtons to call the police, but the State posed hearsay objections to this testimony, which the trial court sustained. (R. pp. 389-393; Tr. 330-334). Marlene Burton's testimony included the following:

Q: Okay. Tell the jury what – how did [Broadway] arrive? What happened?

A: Well, we were all in bed. I heard I think it was a knock at the door. I went to answer the door. I flipped the light on and it's Sam. And of course, I'm very outspoken. What in the are (sic) you doing here this time of day – night? And he said –

MR. MCNEELY: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained. It's hearsay.

THE WITNESS: When I asked him what he was doing there, he told me –

MR. MCNEELY: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained.

...

A: Okay. I saw Sam at my front door. I let him in. I asked him what he was doing there. In the conversation I found out that –

MR. MCNEELY: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained. It would be hearsay.

...

Q: Did Broadway use your phone to call the police?

A: No.

Q: Did your husband [Harvey Burton] use the phone to call the police?

A: Yes.

Q: Why did Mr. Burton call the police?

A: Sam asked him to call.

MR. MCNEELY: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained, hearsay. Jury disregard the last statement.

Q: At any point in your discussions, everyone at the house, did Mr. Broadway try to stop anyone from calling the police?

A: No, he did not.

Q: Okay. Based on your observations at the house, did [Broadway] want you to call the police?

MR. MCNEELY: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained. That would call for speculation on the part of the witness. I will not allow it under 602.

...

Q: Did he direct you to call the police?

MR. MCNEELY: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Sustained. It's hearsay.

(R. pp. 389-393; Tr. 330-334). Thus, Marlene Burton intended to testify that when Broadway arrived at the house, he told the Burtons to call the police. (R. p. 392; Tr. 333). However, when Marlene Burton repeatedly attempted to testify to this fact, and the State posed hearsay objections, which the trial court sustained. (R. p. 392; Tr. 333). Further, the trial court instructed the jury to disregard Marlene Burton's description of Broadway's statement. (R. p. 392; Tr. 333).

Broadway's Statements to Police

It is undisputed that Harvey Burton did in fact call the police after speaking with Broadway. (R. p. 341; Tr. 282). When police responded to the Burton home, they questioned Broadway about his involvement with the collision on 176 earlier that evening. (R. p. 356; Tr. 297). Prior to trial, Broadway moved the court under *Jackson v. Denno*⁵ to exclude the video recording of the statement that he made to police at the Burton home. (R. pp. 93, 110-111; Tr. 34, 51-52). The recording in question was made by the in-car camera of Officer Ted Davis, who responded to the Burton home after Harvey Burton called 911. (R. pp. 273, 354-357; Tr. 214, 295-298). The trial court held a hearing prior to trial, at which the State presented Davis' testimony. (R. pp. 93-94; Tr. 34-55). Davis testified that when he arrived at the Burton residence, he made contact with Broadway in the driveway. (R. p. 95; Tr. 36). Davis stated that he spoke with Broadway for approximately five to ten minutes. (R. p. 96; Tr. 37). The State presented a copy of the video captured by Davis' in-car recording equipment. (R. pp. 98-100; Tr. 39-41).⁶

The trial court denied Broadway's *Jackson v. Denno* motion, and ruled that the video was admissible at trial. (R. pp. 113-114; Tr. 54-55).⁷ The video was later played during the State's case-in-chief, over trial counsel's objection. (R. pp. 358-359; Tr. 299-300). The in-car camera video commences at approximately 6:05 a.m. on March 7, 2015. (State's Ex. 3). The video shows five police vehicles parked at the foot of the Burtons' driveway. (R. p. 107; Tr. 48; State's Ex. 3, 06:05:15).⁸ Broadway can be seen standing near the foot of the driveway, with several

⁵ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

⁶ The video disc was tendered and admitted without objection at the hearing as State's Exhibit 3. (R. p. 99; Tr. 40).

⁷ The court found by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was voluntary. (R. p. 113; Tr. 54). In articulating its ruling, the trial court stated that *Miranda* warnings "may or may not have been necessary." (R. p. 113; Tr. 54).

⁸ In order to facilitate this Court's review of the video exhibit, this brief will make reference to the portions of the video with the following timestamp format: HH:MM:SS. The timestamp reference point can be located in the video player in the bottom-left corner under "Current Time." (State's Ex. 3).

uniformed officers standing around him. (State's Ex. 3, 06:10:20). The officers advised Broadway of his *Miranda*⁹ rights. (State's Ex. 3, 06:10:10). During the officer's recitation of Broadway's *Miranda* rights, the following exchange took place:

Officer: You have the right to talk to an attorney and have him or her present before any questioning, if you wish. Ok? If you can't afford to hire an attorney one will be appointed to represent you before any questioning, if you wish. Now if you decide to start answering questions, or start making statements without an attorney present, you may decide at any time to stop answering questions and stop making statements until you retain legal counsel. Ok?

Broadway: Can you call Chase Payne?¹⁰ Did someone get hurt more majorly than I know?

Officer: Well, before we get into all that, why don't you tell me what happened?

(State's Ex. 3, 06:10:30). Broadway then proceeded to inform the officers that he had been at BFE Bar earlier that evening. (State's Ex. 3, 06:11:36).¹¹ Broadway stated that at some point after he got home, he realized he had lost his phone. (State's Ex. 3, 06:11:50). Broadway decided to go back to BFE Bar to find his phone. (State's Ex. 3, 06:11:55). Broadway said that as he was driving there, a car pulled out in front of him. (State's Ex. 3, 06:12:05). Broadway told the officers that as he swerved to avoid the car, he noticed another vehicle in front of that car, and that he heard something hit his car. (State's Ex. 3, 06:12:20). Broadway said that he left the scene of the collision and came to the Burtons' home. (State's Ex. 3, 06:13:30). After Broadway gave his account of the events earlier that evening, Officer Davis said that he was concerned that Broadway may be impaired. (State's Ex. 3, 06:15:00). The officer then asked Broadway whether he would be willing to provide a blood sample for testing. (State's Ex. 3, 06:15:00). Broadway declined. (State's Ex. 3, 06:16:00). Broadway was then asked to give a written statement, which

⁹ *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

¹⁰ Michael Chase Payne is an attorney licensed to practice in South Carolina since 2011.

¹¹ Broadway mistakenly refers to it as "BFF Bar."

he agreed to do. (State's Ex. 3, 06:16:55). That handwritten statement was also tendered and admitted subject to counsel's pre-trial objection. (R. pp. 362-363; State's Ex. 37; Tr. 303-304). At the conclusion of the trial, the jury convicted Broadway on the sole count of the indictment. (R. p. 471; Tr. 412). Broadway now appeals from his conviction, sentence, and the denial of his post-trial Rule 29¹² motion for new trial.

¹² Rule 29, SCRCrimP.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN SUSTAINING THE STATE'S HEARSAY OBJECTIONS AND STRIKING THE TESTIMONY OF MARLENE BURTON.

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter within the trial court’s sound discretion, and an appellate court may only disturb a ruling admitting or excluding evidence upon a showing of a ‘manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice.’” *State v. Commander*, 396 S.C. 254, 262-63, 721 S.E.2d 413, 417 (2011)(quoting *State v. Douglas*, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-48 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006). Here, the trial court’s ruling was controlled by an error of law – Broadway’s statement to the Burtons was not hearsay, and consequently it was not properly excluded by the trial court. Furthermore, the trial court’s error was highly prejudicial to Broadway’s defense, depriving him of a valid defense to the charges, and by extension depriving him of his right to a fair trial.

A. Broadway’s statement was not hearsay because it made no factual assertions.

“‘Hearsay’ is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” *Thomas v. Dootson*, 377 S.C. 293, 659 S.E.2d 253, 256 (2008). By definition, hearsay is limited to those statements in which something is “asserted.” Rule 801(c), SCRE. In the context of evaluating hearsay, the word “assert” simply means “to say that something is so, e.g. that an event happened or that a condition existed.” KENNETH S. BROUN, MCCORMICK ON EVIDENCE § 246 (6th ed. 2006). In contrast, an out-of-court statement is not hearsay “if it is not an assertion.” *Id.*

Turning to the present case, the testimony offered by the defense that Broadway asked the Burtons to call the police is, in essence, not an “assertion” of any kind, as contemplated by the hearsay rule. A request that the listener call the police is a statement that conveys no factual substance, it cannot be proven or disproven, it cannot be contradicted or shown to be false. In

other words, it is fundamentally devoid of any factual claims. For this reason, the statements by Broadway that were offered in this trial were improperly characterized by the trial court as hearsay, because the statements lacked any factual assertions, which is what gives rise to hearsay issues.

In *State v. Cox*, 274 S.C. 624, 266 S.E.2d 784 (1980), the supreme court considered an alleged hearsay statement that closely resembles Broadway's in the present case. *Cox* involved a sexual assault, in which the defendant abducted the victim and sexually assaulted her, and then the defendant forced the victim to accompany him on a search for someone who would sell him alcoholic beverages. *Id.* at 626. During the course of the evening, the defendant stopped at the home of a witness, who testified at trial that she heard the victim say, "Honey, please open the door." *Id.* at 628. On appeal, the defendant argued that the victim's out-of-court statement was hearsay, and that the trial judge erred by allowing the statement into evidence. *Id.* The supreme court rejected this claim of error, reasoning that the "statement was obviously not offered for the truth of the matter asserted and therefore, by definition, is not hearsay." *Id.* This case is illustrative of the principles that should have guided the trial court's analysis in the present case. The statement "Honey, please open the door" is a request; the speaker makes no factual claims, she is simply requesting that the listener open the door. Similarly, Broadway's request that the Burtons call the police made no factual claims, it was simply a request that the listener should contact the police. Like in *Cox*, Broadway's statements should have been admitted for this simple reason: his statement was not an assertion, and therefore it lacked the primary characteristic that classifies a statement as hearsay.

B. Broadway's statement was not hearsay because it was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

Moving beyond this fundamental problem with the trial court's ruling, there are numerous ways that Broadway's statement could be utilized for valid non-hearsay purposes, even assuming *arguendo* that the instruction to call police is an "assertion" for hearsay purposes. In other words, there are numerous bases to conclude that the statements were offered not for the

truth of the matter asserted, but for some other valid purpose. The Appellant respectfully sets forth the following non-hearsay applications of Broadway's statements for this Court's consideration.

i. Broadway's statement was admissible as conduct with legal significance.

In *Waites v. S.C. Windstorm & Hail Underwriting Ass'n*, 279 S.C. 362, 307 S.E.2d 223 (1983), the supreme court considered a dispute over whether the plaintiffs in a lawsuit had complied with a particular statute, which required the plaintiffs to exhaust their administrative remedies prior to filing suit. *Id.* at 364. In order to show that they had complied with the statute in question, the plaintiffs introduced a letter from the Department of Insurance to the defendant, which the plaintiffs argued put the defendants on notice that the plaintiffs intended to pursue further legal action if their claim was denied. *Id.* at 365. In other words, the plaintiffs argued that the letter itself carried legal significance because it manifested their attempt to comply with the statute at issue. *Id.* Considering the admissibility of this letter, the supreme court stated as follows:

While the contents of the letter were not admissible for the purpose of proving the facts therein stated, we think that the letter was *admissible as evidence of an attempt to comply with the statute*. "Where, regardless of the truth or the falsity of a statement, the fact that it has been made is relevant, the hearsay rule does not apply, but the statement may be shown."

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