ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUN 14 2018
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SAMUEL LEE BROADWAY,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No: 2017-002104

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLET A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, S. C. 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
R. Markley Dennis, Circuit Court Judge

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court did not err in sustaining the prosecution's objection to Broadway's out of court statement because Broadway sought to admit the testimony for the truth of the matter asserted and Broadway failed to argue that the statement was not for the truth of the matter asserted or that any hearsay exception applied. The issue is not preserved for review.

Broadway claims the trial court erred by sustaining the prosecution's hearsay objection when Broadway elicited testimony from Marlene Burton that he asked the Burtons to call the police.

First, the issue is not preserved for review because Broadway failed to argue the testimony was not hearsay or that a hearsay exception applied. State v. Webb, 389 S.C. 174, 182-83, 697 S.E.2d 662, 666-67 (Ct. App. 2010) (finding issue of exclusion of testimony not preserved for review where counsel did not object to the limitations on the testimony); State v. Mitchell, 330 S.C. 189, 195; 498 S.E.2d 642, 645 (1998) (holding that where counsel acquiesces in judge's limitation of his cross-examination and makes no further objection, appellate review of the issue is procedurally barred). Broadway waited until his post-trial motion to argue the testimony should have been admissible, which is too late. State v. Lynn, 277 S.C. 222, 226, 284 S.E.2d 786, 789 (1981) ("Failure to contemporaneously object to the question now advanced as prejudicial cannot be later bootstrapped by a motion for a mistrial.").

Further, the trial court did not err. Trial judges have considerable discretion in ruling on the admission or exclusion of evidence, and an appellate court will not reverse a trial judge's ruling on evidentiary matters absent a clear abuse of that discretion resulting in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002); see State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 625,

703 S.E.2d 226, 230 (2010) (“The appellate court reviews a trial judge’s ruling on admissibility of evidence pursuant to an abuse of discretion standard and gives great deference to the trial court.” (emphasis added)). “[T]o warrant reversal based on admission or exclusion of evidence, the appellant must prove both the error of the ruling and the resulting prejudice” State v. Gault, 375 S.C. 570, 574, 654 S.E.2d 98, 100 (Ct. App. 2007).

“Hearsay” is a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. Rule 801, SCRE. Hearsay is inadmissible except as provided by statute, the Rules of Evidence, or other court rules. Rule 802, SCRE; State v. LaCoste, 347 S.C. 153, 553 S.E.2d 464 (Ct. App. 2001), *cert. dismissed* 353 S.C. 538, 579 S.E.2d 318. “Evidence is not hearsay unless it is an out of court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 558, 575 S.E.2d 77, 81 (Ct. App. 2003). The “rule against hearsay prohibits the admission of evidence of an out of court statement by someone other than the person testifying[,] which is used to prove the truth of the matter asserted.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 199, 682 S.E.2d 275, 280 (Ct. App. 2009).

In State v. Galloway, 305 S.C. 258, 264, 407 S.E.2d 662, 666 (Ct. App. 1991), this Court found no error in not allowing the defendant to testify about an alleged conversation he had with an officer trying persuade Galloway to agree to a release from a civil action. The Court found the statement was hearsay and Galloway failed to show any exception applied.

In State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 355, 751 S.E.2d 645, 662 (2013), the Supreme Court agreed with Brockmeyer that a photograph offered into evidence of two guns with the caption “Wills gun on left my gun on righ[t]” was hearsay because it was offered for the truth of the matter asserted in the caption.

In Wright v. Bi-Lo, 314 S.C. 152, 159, 442 S.E.2d 186, 190-91 (Ct. App. 1994), this Court found no error in the Workmen's Compensation Commissioner's decision to exclude statements by Wright to show Wright's understanding of the employer's shoplifter rules despite the argument the statement was probative of Wright's "state of mind." This Court rejected the argument as an "impermissible bootstrap argument."

To argue that the testimony was not hearsay, Broadway relies on State v. Cox, 274 S.C. 624, 266 S.E.2d 784 (1980). The entirety of the analysis and conclusion by the Supreme Court in that case is as follows:

During the course of the evening when appellant forced the prosecuting witness to accompany him on a search for alcoholic beverages, they came upon the home of witness Theresa Dill. While on the porch, the prosecuting witness allegedly said, "Honey, please open the door." Appellant contends this statement is hearsay and the trial judge therefore erred in admitting it. We disagree. The statement was obviously not offered for the truth of the matter asserted and therefore, by definition, is not hearsay.

Id. at 628, 266 S.E.2d at 786. The purpose for which the out of court statement was admitted is not obvious from context. It may be to merely show victim was present at Dill's house. In the instant case, Broadway's out of court statement was not sought to be admitted to merely show he was present at the Burton's. Broadway sought to admit it for the truth of the matter asserted, that Broadway allegedly wanted the Burtons to contact law enforcement.

Broadway argues the testimony is not hearsay because it constitutes "conduct with legal significance." This hearsay exception may apply to establish a contractual right or duty. See Deep Kell, LLC v. Atl. Private Equity Grp., LLC, 413 S.C. 58, 69-70, 773 S.E.2d 607, 613 (Ct. App. 2015) (loan documents admissible to establish existence of loan contract and terms of the loan

agreement). However, this hearsay exception does not apply so broadly as to apply to all statements that may have legal ramifications or carry mitigating or exculpatory connotations. For instance, in Deep Kell, the hearsay exception did not apply to testimony from the purchaser of the note as to the balance of the loan remaining due. Id. at 70-71, 773 S.E.2d at 614.

Broadway also argues the testimony was not hearsay because it was admitted to show notice. However, the statute does not require the driver involved in an accident to put the driver's in-laws on notice of the accident. Whether the Burtons received notice of the accident is irrelevant. Further, Burton testified he called the police of his own accord, not at Broadway's request. Ms. Burton did not call the police. Reliance on Player v. Thompson, 259 S.C. 600, 193 S.E.2d 531 (1972) is misplaced. In that case, an inspector told the defendant that tires on the defendant's vehicle were bald. This would put the defendant on notice that the tires were in need of replacement for safety purposes and relevant in a tort case to establish a duty of due care for the tortfeasor. In the instant case, Broadway's alleged request did not establish a legal duty or duty of due care for the Burtons and it was not exculpatory for Broadway.

Reliance on State v. Lewis, 293 S.C. 107, 359 S.E.2d 66 (1987) is likewise misplaced. In that case, Lewis' co-defendant, Bellamy, testified he purchased a gun because he heard rumors that Lewis was making threats on Bellamy's life. The State alleged Bellamy committed the murder at Lewis' behest. The testimony was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted – that Lewis was threatening Bellamy. Instead the testimony was offered to explain why Bellamy bought the gun. In the instant case, Broadway sought to admit the out of court statement for the truth of the matter asserted – that Broadway allegedly wanted the Burtons to call law enforcement.

Similarly, reliance on State v. Sims, 304 S.C. 409, 419, 405 S.E.2d 377 (1991) fails because

the out of court statement in Sims – that a woman said Sims has a gun and is going to kill her sister – was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but to explain why the officer forcibly restrained Sims.

Unlike the out of court statements in Lewis and Sims, Broadway seeks to admit the statement for the truth of the matter asserted – that Broadway wanted the Burtons to contact law enforcement. The State agrees with Broadway the facts of the case – that after hitting Victim, Broadway drove past a gas station, went to a bar, left the bar without contacting law enforcement, went to the Burtons and fell asleep – create abundant evidence that is difficult for him to explain. However, that did not relieve Broadway from the requirement he follow the rules of evidence and allow him to elicit rank hearsay as he suggests in his brief.

Further, Broadway was not prejudiced by exclusion of this testimony, and any error was harmless. Exclusion of evidence is reversible only where error and prejudice are shown. State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 27, 393 S.E.2d 364, 369 (1990). Even if the jury heard Broadway’s claim that he asked his in-laws to call police, it is not exculpatory. S.C. Code §56-5-1210 provides an exception to the duty to remain at the scene of an accident if the driver **temporarily** leaves the scene to contact law enforcement officers. It does not provide an exception to contact in-laws or ask for their advice. First, the Burtons were not proper authorities and it was up to Broadway to make contact. More importantly, no evidence indicated Broadway ever intended to return to the scene of the accident, so **he did not leave the scene temporarily**, and the statute does not provide an exception to the temporary requirement for a defendant who is too sleepy or intoxicated to return to the scene of the accident.

The excluded testimony amounted to gimmick evidence in the face of the overwhelming

evidence Broadway committed the crime. Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial); State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 562, 575 S.E.2d 77, 83 (Ct. App. 2003) (The “materiality and prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case.”).

II.

Appellant's request for the officer to call "Chase Payne" was not a clear and unequivocal request invoking the right to counsel, and law enforcement was not required to cease questioning.

Broadway argues he invoked his right to counsel when he asked law enforcement to call "Chase Payne." The trial court noted it did not know anything about a person named Chase Payne. R. p. 113, lines 5-11. Trial counsel assumed Chase Payne was a lawyer, but no evidence was presented Chase Payne was a lawyer. Bowers v. Bowers, 304 S.C. 65, 68, 403 S.E.2d 127, 129 (Ct. App. 1991) ("Arguments of counsel are . . . not evidence."). Because Broadway's request to law enforcement was not a clear and unequivocal invocation of his right to counsel, law enforcement was not required to suspend questioning Broadway about his role in the accident. Davis v. United States, 512 U.S. 452 (1994).

The Fifth Amendment of the federal constitution guarantees the right of a suspect to speak with counsel upon request in a custodial setting. U.S. Const. amend V; Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). If the suspect invokes the suspect's right to counsel, police interrogation must cease unless the suspect initiates further communication with police. Id.

The prohibition on further questioning of a suspect who invokes his right to counsel is not required by the Fifth Amendment's prohibition on coerced confessions, "but is instead justified only by reference to its prophylactic purpose." Davis, 512 U.S. at 458 (quoting Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 528 (1987)) (internal quotation marks omitted). Therefore, application of the "'rigid' prophylactic rule" requires a determination of whether the suspect actually invoked his right to counsel. Davis at 458 (quoting Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 95 (1984)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Police are not required to cease questioning the suspect unless the request for counsel is unambiguous. Davis (“Maybe I should talk to a lawyer” was not a request for counsel). The determination of whether a person “actually invoked his right to counsel” is based upon an objective inquiry. Davis at 458-59. If the suspect makes an ambiguous or equivocal statement concerning the right to counsel, officers are not required to ask clarifying questions: “If the suspect’s statement is not an unambiguous or unequivocal request for counsel, the officers have no obligation to stop questioning him.” Davis at 461-62; see State v. Lynch, 156 A.3d 1012 (N.H. 2017) (discussing Davis and finding Lynch’s statement: “I’m being accused of something that I didn’t do and then I mean I guess the only thing I can do is probably stop talking and get a lawyer . . .” was not an unequivocal request for counsel).

In Davis, the Supreme Court declared, “In this case we decide how law enforcement officers should respond when a suspect makes a reference to counsel that is insufficiently clear to invoke the Edwards prohibition on further questioning.” Davis at 454. During a custodial interview, Davis said “Maybe I should talk to a lawyer.” One of the officers testified they told Davis that the officers would stop the interview and would not go any further until Davis clarified if he wanted a lawyer or was merely making a comment about a lawyer. Davis replied he was not asking for a lawyer and did not want a lawyer. Davis was read his rights again and the interrogation continued until Davis made an unequivocal request for an attorney. Davis at 455.

Even though the officers in Davis sought to clear up the ambiguity by Davis’ comments, the Supreme Court made clear that officers would not be required to ask clarifying questions if the suspect’s statement was not an unequivocal and unambiguous request for counsel: “[I]f a suspect makes a reference to an attorney that is ambiguous or equivocal in that a reasonable officer in light of

the circumstances would have understood only that a suspect *might* be invoking the right to counsel” then officers are not required to cease questioning. Davis at 459. “Rather, the suspect must unambiguously request counsel. As we have observed, ‘a statement either is such an assertion of the right to counsel or it is not.’” Id. (quoting Smith v. Illinois, 469 U.S. 91, 97-98 (1984)).

In the instant case, no evidence was presented as to who Chase Payne might be and no evidence was presented that officers were aware Broadway was referring to an attorney. Officers were not required to clarify the reason Broadway wanted them to call this person, nor were they required to desist from further interrogation. Because Broadway did not make an unambiguous and unequivocal request for an attorney, the trial court did not err.

Further, Broadway was not prejudiced by the alleged error because Burton testified Broadway admitted he was involved in the accident and admitted he did not call the authorities. Therefore, Broadway’s admission to law enforcement is merely cumulative to his admissions to Burton. When other properly admitted testimony reveals essentially the same information, the jury’s exposure to improper evidence is harmless. State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 554-555 (2001). Finally, any error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. State v. Mitchell, 286 S.C. 572, 573, 336 S.E.2d 150, 151 (1985) (holding whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the case, but it is harmless where it could not reasonably have changed the outcome of the trial)

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the judgment and conviction of the lower court should be affirmed.